No. 94239.

FILED

MAR 23 2017

MAR 23 2017

WASHINGTON STATE

WASHINGTON STATE

SUPREME COURT

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 74266-3-I

FILED
Mar 08/2017
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION I
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GLOGOWSKI LAW FIRM, PLLC,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

v.

CITY FIRST MORTGAGE SERVICES, LLC,

Defendant/Respondent,

GLOGOWSKI LAW FIRM, PLLC'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

William H. Walsh, WSBA #21911 Robert D. Lee, WSBA #46682 Cozen O'Connor 999 Third Avenue, Suite 1900 Seattle, WA 98104 Telephone: (206) 340-1000

Attorneys for Petitioner Glogowski Law Firm, PLLC

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER		
II.	CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION1		
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1		
IV. STATEM		EMENT OF THE CASE2	
	A.	Ms. Glogowski's Representation of City First2	
	B.	City First's Appeal of the Adverse Verdict3	
	C.	The Legal Malpractice Action Against Ms. Glogowski4	
V.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED6		
	A.	The Court of Appeals' Decision on Conflicts with the Supreme Court's Decision in <u>Daugert v. Pappas</u> , and the Court of Appeals' Decision in <u>Smith v. Preston Ellis</u> <u>Gates, LLP</u>	
	В.	The Court of Appeals Cannot Rely on Possible Counterfactual Events as a Basis for Determining "But For" Causation	
VI.	CON	CLUSION14	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)
Christopher Piris v. Alfred Kitching, et al., 186 Wn. App. 265 (2015)
Clark County Fire District No. 5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailey P.C., 180 Wn. App. 689, 324 P.3d 743 (2014)
<u>Collings v. City First Mortg. Services, LLC,</u> 177 Wn. App. 908, 317 P.3d 1047 (2013)3, 5
<u>Daugert v. Pappas,</u> 104 Wn.2d 254, 704 P.2d 600 (1985)
Estep v. Hamilton, 148 Wn. App. 246, 201 P.3d 331 (2008)8
Glogowski Law Firm, PLLC v. City First Mortgage Services, LLC, No. 74266-3-I,P.3d, 2017 WL 478305 (Wash. App. Feb. 6, 2017)
<u>Griswold v. Kilpatrick,</u> 107 Wn. App. 757, 27 P.3d 246 (2001)8
<u>Halvorsen v. Ferguson,</u> 46 Wn. App. 708, 735 P.2d 675 (1986)
Marshall v. Bally's Pacwest, Inc., 94 Wn. App. 372, 972 P.2d 475 (1999)
<u>Smith v. Preston Gates Ellis, LLP,</u> 135 Wn. App. 859, 147 P.3d 600 (2006)
Statutes
Credit Services Organizations Act (CSOA)passim
RCW 19.134.010(2)(b)(i)9

Regu	lations	and	Rules
------	---------	-----	-------

RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2)......6, 14

I. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

Petitioner is Glogowski Law Firm, PLLC (referred to as "Ms. Glogowski"), a Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant in the Superior Court and a Petitioner in this Court.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division I, issued its decision in an unpublished opinion captioned <u>Glogowski Law Firm, PLLC v. City First</u> <u>Mortgage Services, LLC</u>, No. 74266-3-I, ---P.3d. ---, 2017 WL 478305 (Wash. App. Feb. 6, 2017), and is set forth in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-10.

III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- 1. In a claim for legal malpractice, whether the failure to assert a defense, a defense which had already been substantially asserted and rejected by the jury in the underlying trial, rises above the level of speculation necessary to create a genuine issue of material fact with regard to "but for" causation?
- 2. In a claim for legal malpractice, can a court rely on the speculative possibility of a different outcome as the basis for finding a genuine issue of material fact where Washington courts have uniformly held that it is not appropriate to engage in speculation when considering "but for" causation in a legal malpractice action?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 1

A. Ms. Glogowski's Representation of City First

Ms. Glogowski was retained by City First to defend it in a lawsuit brought by Donald and Beth Collings for alleged violations of the Credit Services Organizations Act ("CSOA"), Equity Skimming Act, the Washington Consumer Protection Act, and Civil Conspiracy, arising out of the actions of two branch managers Robert Loveless and Andrew Mullen. CP 66-78, 80-84. Specifically, the Collings alleged that City First was vicariously liable for the actions of Loveless and Mullen, an allegation which would later prove dispositive at trial. *Id.*

In City First's trial brief, Ms. Glogowski asserted that Loveless and Mullen were independent contractors, and as such, that City First could not be held vicariously liable for the actions of Loveless and Mullen.

CP 275-287. More importantly, she asserted that City First was exempt from the CSOA because City First was a fully licensed consumer loan company in Washington. *Id.* At the close of evidence, Ms. Glogowski submitted a motion for a directed verdict, again raising the defense that

¹ For the purposes of this Petition only, Ms. Glogowski incorporates by reference the Statement of Facts as recited by the Court of Appeals in its Opinion. A-1 to A-4. In addition, Ms. Glogowski relies upon the Clerk's Papers for those facts regarding summary judgment not addressed by the Court of Appeals.

City First was exempt from the CSOA. CP 290-302. The Court did not rule on the motion. CP 520-22.

The jury returned a verdict against City First, finding it vicariously liable for the acts of Loveless and Mullen. CP 304-08. Further, the jury specifically found that Loveless, Mullen and City First were liable to the Collings for violating the CSOA. CP 307. Following the adverse verdict, City First terminated Ms. Glogowski and hired new lawyers to appeal the verdict. CP 329-331.

B. City First's Appeal of the Adverse Verdict

Through its new counsel, City First appealed the judgment, arguing among other things, that City First was exempt from the CSOA because it was a licensed consumer loan company. CP 384-85. In its opinion in the underlying action, the Court of Appeals found that there was sufficient evidence to support vicarious liability on the part of City First for the wrongful conduct of Robert Loveless and affirmed the trial court's rejection of the CSOA exemption defense. Collings v. City First Mortg. Services, LLC, 177 Wn. App. 908, 927, 930, 317 P.3d 1047 (2013). Specifically, a "reasonable jury could readily find that Loveless, designated as the branch manager, was an employee or agent of City First." *Id.* at 926.

C. The Legal Malpractice Action Against Ms. Glogowski

Following the adverse verdict in the underlying trial, City First refused to pay Ms. Glogowski's outstanding attorney fees forcing her to file a collections lawsuit. CP 403-08, 410, 412-21. In response, City First asserted a counterclaim for legal malpractice, raising for the first time criticisms of Ms. Glogowski's representation. CP 423-428.

Ms. Glogowski filed a motion for summary judgment against City First's malpractice counterclaim on the basis of failure of proximate cause and pursuant to the attorney judgment rule. CP 28-53. Oral argument was held before the Honorable Jeffrey Ramsdell. *See* Verbatim Report of Proceedings (VRP June 5, 2015). The trial court invited additional briefing on whether it was proper for a trial court to conclude as a matter of law whether sufficient evidence existed to prove causation in fact ("but for" causation) in an attorney malpractice claim. VRP 103:9-110:4. Of note, during argument, City First specifically conceded that Loveless and Mullen, as individuals, were not, and could not, be FHA, VA and HUD lenders. VRP 57:5-18.

At the request of the trial court, Ms. Glogowski provided additional authority² demonstrating that the issue of proximate cause has been and should be decided on summary judgment in legal malpractice actions. CP 1026-71. The trial court dismissed City First's malpractice claim with prejudice. CP 1093-94. City First filed a Motion for Reconsideration which was denied. CP 1767-82, 1193. Following resolution between City First and Ms. Glogowski of the collections action, City First then appealed the trial court's dismissal of its legal malpractice claim against Ms. Glogowski. CP 1201-06.

On February 6, 2017, Division I of the Court of Appeals reversed and remanded the trial court's decision. A-1 to A-10. In reversing, the Court of Appeals held that if Ms. Glogowski had raised the defense of exemption from the CSOA based on City First's status as a licensed lender under the Federal Housing Authority ("FHA") and Dept. of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD") in the underlying trial, City First "could have been determined to be exempt from the CSOA." A-9. Thus, had this defense been asserted, the "outcome of the Collings case may have been

² The additional argument and authority requested by the trial court was filed by Glogowski in the form of a Motion for Reconsideration. CP 1026-71.

different." A-10. Ms. Glogowski seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Ms. Glogowski respectfully requests that this Petition be granted, under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in direct conflict with the previous decision of this Court in Daugert v.

Pappas, 104 Wn.2d 254, 257, 704 P.2d 600 (1985), and the Court of Appeals in Smith v. Preston Gates Ellis, LLP, 135 Wn. App. 859, 864-65, 147 P.3d 600 (2006), relating to proof of "but for" causation in a legal malpractice claim. Specifically, to avoid dismissal of a legal malpractice claim on summary judgment, the former client must present evidence that it would have prevailed absent the alleged malpractice – speculation of what would have happened absent the defendant attorney's alleged negligence is insufficient. *Id*.

The Court of Appeal's decision in this matter, however, holds that a plaintiff can survive summary judgment in a legal malpractice case by offering the theory that a different result may have been possible, even if the theory is unsupported and/or contradicted by the material facts in the underlying trial. In effect, this decision significantly lowers a plaintiff's burden of proof in a legal malpractice case and effectively punishes attorneys for choosing one trial strategy over another. If the Court of

Appeals' Opinion is allowed to stand, plaintiffs will be encouraged to sue their counsel for any negative result, simply by asserting the possibility of having achieved a better result, whether based in fact or not – essentially avoiding and invalidating the well-established burden of proof in Washington for legal malpractice cases. This drastic departure from the established burden of proof demands the Court's guidance and intervention.³

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision on Conflicts with the Supreme Court's Decision in Daugert v. Pappas, and the Court of Appeals' Decision in Smith v. Preston Ellis Gates, LLP.

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case is in direct conflict with the decision of the Supreme Court in <u>Daugert v. Pappas</u>, 104 Wn.2d 254, 257, 704 P.2d 600 (1985) and the decision from the Court of Appeals in <u>Smith v. Preston Gates Ellis, LLP</u>, 135 Wn. App. 859, 864, 147 P.3d 600 (2006). In <u>Daugert</u>, this Court held that in a legal malpractice case, proximate causation is determined by the "but for" test. *Id.* at 257-58. Specifically, proof that the client would have obtained a better result "but for" the attorney's negligence. <u>Id.</u> The proof must be based on more than

³ Indeed, this Court has recently accepted another Petition for Review involving proximate cause in the legal malpractice context. <u>See</u> Petition for Review, <u>Christopher Piris v. Alfred Kitching, et al.</u>, 186 Wn. App. 265 (2015) (No. 91567-9). The importance, substantial interest and need to provide guidance on proximate cause in legal malpractice is implicitly recognized by the Court's acceptance of this Petition.

just speculation and conjecture. <u>Id.</u> at 260. In line with the "but for" test, the Court of Appeals held in <u>Smith</u> that speculation of what would have happened absent the attorney's alleged negligence cannot be used to defeat summary judgment. <u>Smith</u>, 135 Wn. App. at 865. Speculation as to alternative courses of action or other possibilities does not demonstrate proof of a better result "but for" the attorney's negligence. *Id.* at 870.

Indeed, Washington Court of Appeal's decisions have uniformly held that speculation and possibility cannot be used to create an issue of fact to defeat summary judgment. See Estep v. Hamilton, 148 Wn. App. 246, 257, 201 P.3d 331 (2008) (holding that speculation cannot establish the proximate cause element of a legal malpractice claim); Smith, 135 Wn. App. at 865 (holding that speculation as to another possibility cannot defeat summary judgment in a legal malpractice action); Griswold v. Kilpatrick, 107 Wn. App. 757, 27 P.3d 246 (2001) (holding that expert's speculative and conclusory opinion regarding ability to obtain a better result was insufficient to raise a genuine issue of material fact). "The nonmoving party cannot rely on speculation but must assert specific facts to defeat summary judgment." Smith, 135 Wn. App. at 863 (citing Seven Gables Corp. v. MGM/UA Entm't Co., 106 Wn.2d 1, 13, 721 P.2d 1 (1986)). These decisions recognize that simply asserting the possibility of

another outcome does not prove that "but for" the attorney's negligence, he would have obtained a better result in the underlying litigation.

The Court of Appeal's decision here, however, entered into the realm of speculation by holding that, had Ms. Glogowski asserted the defense of exemption to the CSOA based on City First's status as a federally licensed home lender, despite having already asserted the same exemption defense based on state licensure, "the outcome of the Collings case may have been different." A-10. This finding is directly countered by the jury's verdict, in which they specifically found that, despite assertion of the exemption defense, Loveless, Mullen and City First were liable to the Collings for violating the CSOA. CP 307. The statutory basis for the exemption defense is identical, whether asserted based on state or federal licensure. RCW 19.134.010(2)(b)(i).⁴ Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' decision is based upon the speculative possibility that the jury would have somehow rejected the exemption defense and then

⁴ Under RCW 19.134.010(2)(b)(i) a credit services organization subject to the CSOA does not include: (i) Any person authorized to make loans or extensions of credit under the laws of this state or the United States who is subject to regulation and supervision by this state or the United States or a lender approved by the United States secretary of housing and urban development for participation in any mortgage insurance program under the national housing act. RCW 19.134.010(2)(b)(i) (emphasis added).

inexplicably accepted the same identical defense. It is unclear what facts are being relied upon to support this theory.

The Court of Appeals' decision does not address the jury's verdict on the CSOA claim and is unclear whether the Court of Appeals considered the jury's verdict in its analysis. However, given the jury's clear rejection of the exemption defense, the Court of Appeals' reasoning that asserting the same defense would have yielded a better result amounts to speculation. In other words, there is no evidence in the record to indicate that asserting the exemption defense would have been received differently by the jury. What is undisputed in the record is the jury's clear rejection of the defense.

The Court of Appeal's reasoning encourages and provides a basis for plaintiffs to avoid summary judgment in legal malpractice cases by engaging in speculative theories that run counter to, or ignore, the underlying material facts. It allows a plaintiff to speculate on possible outcomes which are not tied to any facts in the underlying matter, and present this as proof of the "case within the case," upending long established precedent on "but for" causation. Such a result is in direct conflict with this Court's holding in <u>Daugert</u>, and the holding in <u>Smith</u>. More importantly, this substantial lowering of the "but for" causation

standard would be incredibly disruptive to the rights and duties of clients, attorneys, and the practice of law in Washington.

Accordingly, this Court should grant review to resolve the conflict in the Court of Appeals regarding proof of "but for" causation at the summary judgment stage and to reject the assertion that speculative theories which run counter to the underlying facts can create a genuine issue of material fact sufficient to survive summary judgment.

B. The Court of Appeals Cannot Rely on Possible Counterfactual Events as a Basis for Determining "But For" Causation.

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case further conflicts with Daugert and Smith because it relies on an unsupported underlying assumption to find "but for" causation. A-9. Specifically, in addressing the finding of vicarious liability, the Court of Appeals asserts that because a corporation acts through its employees, had Ms. Glogowski raised the exemption defense, she would have "had to argue that Loveless and Mullen were acting within the scope of their authority" and they "could have been determined to be exempt from the CSOA." A-9. In other words, had Ms. Glogowski pursued this strategy at trial, the outcome could have been different.

However, the Court of Appeals' entire analysis is flawed because it is based on an incorrect underlying assumption: that Ms. Glogowski could

have pursued such a strategy at trial. During the litigation, City First informed Ms. Glogowski that Loveless and Mullen had no role, influence or authority in City First's operations. CP 62-64. Based on this understanding, Ms. Glogowski argued at trial that Loveless and Mullen were independent contractors, City First had no involvement in the Loveless scheme and accordingly, City First could not be held vicariously liable for the actions of Loveless and Mullen. CP 275-287.

Given the strategy to distance City First as much as possible from the actions of Loveless and Mullen and frame them as renegade independent contractors, it is unclear how Ms. Glogowski could have argued, as the Court of Appeals suggests, that Loveless and Mullen were instead employees of City First acting within the scope of their authority. Indeed, the Court of Appeals' analysis presumes that this avenue of argument was available, without referring to the record to first determine whether it was in fact available. It was not and doing so in the midst of trial would have completely upended Ms. Glogowski's trial strategy.

Thus, the Court of Appeals' entire analysis, including the conclusion that a better result could have been obtained, is speculative because it goes down a theoretical path that was never available to begin with. See Marshall v. Bally's Pacwest, Inc., 94 Wn. App. 372, 379, 972 P.2d 475 (1999) (holding that causation is speculative when there is

nothing more tangible to proceed upon than conjectural theories of liability and non-liability). That, however, is what the Court of Appeals has presented in its analysis. A possibility upon which the outcome could have been different, which is by definition speculative.

As discussed above, allowing this reasoning to stand has tremendous implications on legal malpractice actions and the standards by which "but for" causation is determined. More importantly, the Court of Appeals' decision essentially condones the second guessing of attorney trial strategy – it theorizes that Ms. Glogowski should have pursued a different trial strategy because that strategy could have resulted in a different outcome, without determining whether such a possibility had any basis in the underlying facts of the case. Indeed, the Court of Appeals' opinion essentially seeks to punish Ms. Glogowski for failing to pursue a strategy which would have run counter to her understanding of the facts, and her entire trial strategy. Daugert and Smith make clear that the

_

⁵ More importantly, this second guessing would run afoul of the "attorney judgment rule," which holds that an attorney generally is immune from liability for professional judgment decisions involving pre-trial case strategy decisions, and whether to object at trial. See Clark County Fire District No. 5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailey P.C., 180 Wn. App. 689, 324 P.3d 743 (2014). See also Halvorsen v. Ferguson, 46 Wn. App. 708, 717, 735 P.2d 675 (1986) ("In general, mere errors in judgment or in trial tactics do not subject an attorney to liability for legal malpractice").

positing of possible counterfactual events is insufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact sufficient to survive summary judgment.

VI. **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons set forth above, Ms. Glogowski respectfully requests that this Court grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) in order to address the Court of Appeal's conflicting decision regarding sufficient proof of "but for" causation at the summary judgment.