NO. 94239-1

SUPREME COURT OF
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 74266-3-I

COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION 1

GLOGOWSKI LAW FIRM, PLLC

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

v.

CITY FIRST MORTGAGE SERVICES, LLC

Defendant/Respondent,

CITY FIRST MORTGAGE SERVICES, LLC'S RESPONSE TO
GLOGOWSKI LAW FIRM, PLLC'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

BADGLEY MULLINS TURNER, PLLC
Donald H. Mullins, WSBA #4966
Daniel A. Rogers, WSBA #46372
19929 Ballinger Way NE, #200
Seattle, Washington 98155
Telephone: (206) 621-6566
Facsimile: (206) 621-9686

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

III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED

A. The Court of Appeals’ Decision does not Conflict with the Supreme Court’s Decision in *Daugert v. Pappas* nor does it Conflict with the Court of Appeals’ Decision in *Smith v. Preston Ellis Gates, LLP*.

Daugert v. Pappas has little, if any, application to the present case. *Pappas* correctly reasoned in dictum that “[i]n most instances the question of cause in fact is for the jury. It is only when the facts are undisputed and inferences therefrom are plain and incapable of reasonable doubt or difference of opinion that this court has held it becomes a question of law for the court.” 104 Wn.2d 254, 257, 704 P.2d 600 (1985). However, *Pappas* involved “a legal malpractice claim against an attorney for failure to file timely a petition for review[.]” *Id.* 104 Wn.2d at 255. The Court held that

in this specific circumstance causation is to be determined by the trial judge because the questions of causation in such a case require substantive legal analysis. *Id.* 104 Wn.2d at 258; 263. Specifically, the trial judge must determine whether “an appellate court would have (1) granted review, and (2) rendered a judgment more favorable to the [appellant].” *Id.* 104 Wn.2d at 258. No such issue is present in this case since GLF did not represent City First in the appeal of the Underlying Case. Rather, the determination of the alleged malpractice against GLF is solely the province of the jury.

The Petitioner further argues that the Court of Appeals decision cannot be reconciled with *Smith v. Preston Gates Ellis, LLP* because the decision “entered into the realm of speculation by holding that, had [GLF] asserted the defense of exemption to the CSOA based on City First’s status as a federally licensed home lender, despite having already asserted the same exemption defense based on state licensure, ‘the outcome of the Collings case may have been different.’” Pet. Rev. at 9 (citing A-10). This statement ignores GLF’s failure to set forth the portion of the statute that provided for City First’s exemption. A-7-9. It also fails to properly distinguish the present matter from *Smith*. In *Smith*, a case regarding an attorney’s review and advice prior to entering into a contract and not litigation, “[t]he only clear evidence of causation came from the declaration of” the plaintiff’s expert witness. 135 Wn. App. 859, 865, 147 P.3d 600

(2006). The court did not even consider the expert's causation testimony as the trial court struck this "testimony as outside [plaintiff's expert's] disclosed area of expertise. *Id.*

There is no need for speculation as to how GLF's failed representation caused the judgment against City First. In the Underlying Case City First was held liable under the CSOA, which by definition does not apply to it. CP 1470-74. In order to be held liable under the CSOA, the entity or person must meet the definition of a "Credit Services Organization." RCW 19.134.010(2)(a). The CSOA prohibits "Credit Services Organizations" from engaging in certain conduct. RCW 19.134.020. Additionally, the CSOA excludes certain persons from liability under this statute. RCW 19.134.010 states that a "Credit services organization' *does not include:*"

Any person authorized to make loans or extensions of credit under the laws of this state or the United States who is subject to regulation and supervision by this state or the United States *or a lender approved by the United States secretary of housing and urban development* for participation in any mortgage insurance program under the national housing act;

(emphasis added).

Ms. Glogowski did not propose an instruction that included the above emphasized portions of the statute which explicitly exempt City First from liability under the CSOA. CP 1167. Additionally, Ms. Glogowski

failed to properly object to instruction No. 19, which covered the CSOA. CP 1157-58. Instruction No. 19 changed the scope of the language in RCW 19.134.020(2)(b)(i) by eliminating the applicable exceptions and adding the “each branch” language. CP 1126. Regardless of City First’s license status in the state of Washington and any arguments related thereto, it is and has always been exempt under the statute as a HUD lender.

As the Petitioner points out, GLF “asserted that City First was exempt from the CSOA because City First was a fully licensed consumer loan company in Washington.” Pet. Rev. at 2; 9. However, the Petitioner fails to explain that in the appeal of the Underlying Case the Court of Appeals reasoned that “as Collings argues, the Department’s regulations support the ‘each branch’ interpretation of the statute provided by instruction 19.” *Collings*, 177 Wn. App. at 913.

The Petitioner is correct when it states, “The statutory basis for the exemption defense is identical, whether asserted based on state or federal licensure.” Pet. Rev. at 9. Unfortunately, GLF allowed the portion of the statute related to federal licensure to be omitted from Jury Instruction 19 and failed to object to this omission. CP 1167; 1126. The Court of Appeals recognized in this matter that “[c]onsequently, this instruction did not mention that an entity may be exempt if it is authorized to make loans under

federal law. And, the Court of Appeals [in the Underlying Case] had no reason to consider a federal law exemption in its opinion.” A-8.

The CSOA does not apply to City First as a matter of law. As provided above, the definition of a “credit services organization” explicitly *excludes* “a lender approved by the United States secretary of housing and urban development for participation in any mortgage insurance program under the national housing act [.]” RCW 19.134.010(2)(b)(i). In other words, under this provision, persons who are authorized to make loans or extensions of credit under federal law are explicitly exempt from liability under the CSOA. Since at least September 25, 1997, City First has held and continuously maintained a license with the FHA. CP 1098. City First is directly supervised by a federal regulator, that is, HUD. CP 1098. Thus, City First is an approved HUD, VA and FHA lender. CP 1098. City First licensees, i.e. Mullen and Loveless are also directly supervised by HUD. CP 1098. These facts are not in dispute. Thus, City First, Mullen and Loveless are exempt under the CSOA as a matter of law.³

³ The Petitioner cites to *Piris v. Kitching* to demonstrate that the Supreme Court has heard cases on legal malpractice. *Piris* has no application to this case as it involved legal malpractice in the criminal context. 185 Wn.2d 856, 861-62, 375 P.3d 627 (2016) (“A plaintiff also bears the burden of proving two additional elements concerning proximate cause when alleging *criminal* malpractice. First, as a prerequisite, the plaintiff must have obtained postconviction relief. Second, the plaintiff must prove actual innocence of the underlying criminal charge by a preponderance of the evidence.”) (emphasis in original).

B. GLF Failed to Properly Defend City First Under the Independent Contractor Theory.

The Petitioner inexplicably argues that in order for GLF to have properly dealt with the possibility that City First could be found vicariously liable for the conduct of Loveless or Mullen she would have had to make a counterfactual argument. Pet. Rev. 11-12. This argument ignores the basic reality of asserting the defense that Loveless and Mullen were independent contractors. Namely, that if the independent contractor argument is successful than City First would not have been held vicariously liable for the acts of Loveless and Mullen. However, if the independent contractor argument was unsuccessful than City First would be held vicariously liable for the acts of Loveless and Mullen.

It is not a counterfactual argument to be prepared for a defense to fall through. Rather, since GLF's client, City First, was exempt under the CSOA it was an essential aspect of the defense. City First should never have been found liable for the conduct of Loveless and Mullen. If the jury had determined that Loveless and Mullen were independent contractors City First would not have been liable. If the CSOA exemption had been properly raised then a finding of vicarious liability would have resulted in City First enjoying exemption. If Loveless and Mullen were found to have acted outside the scope of their authority then City First could not be held liable.

The failure to properly defend City First on the basis of its exemption from the CSOA caused the adverse judgment against City First.

The Court of Appeals opinion never states that GLF should have changed her argument so that it did not match up with the facts. GLF should have argued that if City First was found to be vicariously liable that it was exempt. Also, GLF should have been prepared for the possibility that City First could be found vicariously liable since Loveless and Mullen operated out of a City First branch as City First branch managers and both had communicated with the Collingses using City First email addresses. CP 1386. GLF cannot argue that the failure to properly defend City First on the basis of its exemption from the CSOA was part of a strategy.⁴

//

//

//

//

⁴ In discussing GLF's failure to properly raise City First's exemption from the CSOA, the petitioner refers to the "attorney judgment rule." Petitioner cannot make a serious argument that the failure to properly set forth an absolute defense available to City First was a professional judgment decision.